Nutrient Relations in Coniferous Forests

Svetlana Ladanai

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Ecology Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2008 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2008:94

Cover: **Visualization of an ecosystem** (constructor: Luis Mente)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN 978-91-86195-27-4 © 2008 Svetlana Ladanai, Uppsala Tryck: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2008

Nutrient Relations in Coniferous Forests

Abstract

The environment controls physiological processes in plants and thus their growth. The question how forests will respond to global environmental changes is addressed with different approaches and using two coniferous tree species: Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.).

I have used the relationship (nitrogen productivity) between a plant's growth rate and the amount of nitrogen in the plant to analyse the growth response to temperature. Data on needle dry matter, production, and nitrogen content in needles from a wide range of climatic conditions were collected and needle nitrogen productivities were calculated. The result is that the nitrogen productivity (net carbon gain of a canopy) of conifers is not sensitive to temperature. Growth responses to temperature in conifers are therefore mediated by changes in nitrogen availability.

I have used three Swedish forest experiments to study the long-term fate of N addition. The fertilisation increased tree biomass, more strongly for spruce than pine. Once fertilisation had ceased, the growth rates in all treatments in pine stands at Lisselbo and spruce stands at Stråsan converged towards similar levels, in contrast to pine stands at Jädraås where the production of stem volume remained higher than in fertilised plots. Nitrogen budgets established 12 years (pine) and 7 years (spruce) after the last N addition show that the increases in N stocks in the pine stands were mainly in the soil. In contrast, in the spruce ecosystem trees accumulated most of the added N and the increase in the soil was restricted to the humus layer. In the pine ecosystem, large losses of added N (between 254 and 738 kg ha⁻¹ out of 1040 kg ha⁻¹ added as fertilizer) occurred, whereas in the spruce ecosystem more N was recovered than could be accounted for by inputs (between 250 and 591 kg ha⁻¹).

I have used humus and needle nutrients and site characteristic from 37 pine and 50 spruce stands from all over Sweden to analyze forest nutrient relations. Biologically controlled nutrients (C, N, P, S) are less variable and more correlated, but the biological control is not limited to only the covalently bound elements. Stoichiometric relations are not entirely rigid but are more constrained in needles than in humus. The use of nitrogen as a basis in stoichiometric relations may give stronger relations than the use of carbon.

Keywords: tree growth, environmental change, soil nitrogen, nitrogen productivity, conifers, nitrogen budget, long-term fertilisation, stoichiometry, humus, needles.

Author's address: Svetlana Ladanai, Department of Ecology, SLU Sciences, Box 7044, SE-750 07 Uppsala, Sweden. *E-mail:* Sveta.Ladanai@ekol.slu.se

Dedication

4

"Where the tree of knowledge stands is always Paradise": thus speak the oldest and youngest serpenters. Friedrich Nietzche

Contents

List of Publications						
1 1.1 1.2	Introduction Background This thesis is about interactions between trees and controls on their	7 7				
1.2	growth	10				
1.2.1 Trees and the climatic environment						
	1.2.2 Trees and the soil environment					
1.2.	3 Relatioships between indicators of plant productivity and					
	environmental conditions	12				
1.3	Why I use different approaches	14				
1.4	Aims of thesis	15				
1.5	Hypotheses	15				
2	Materials and Methods	17				
2.1	Tree species	17				
2.2	Data bases	17				
2.3	Method I: Modelling plant growth	20				
2.4	Method II: Budgeting nutrients in forest ecosystems experiments	22				
2.5	Method III: Correlations between ecosystem variables	23				
3	Results and discussions	25				
3.1	Climatic impact on tree growth (Paper I)	25				
3.2	Nutrient factors of tree growth (Paper II, III)	27				
3.3	Relations between ecosystem variables (Paper IV)	32				
3.3.1 Variability in needle and soil properties						
3.3.	2 Correlations between ecosystem variables	34				
4	Conclusions	41				
5	References	43				
6	Acknowledgements	51				

List of Publications

6

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Ladanai, S. and Ågren, G.I. 2004. Temperature sensitivity of nitrogen productivity for Scots pine and Norway spruce. *Trees Structure and Functions* 18, 312–319.
- II Ladanai, S., Ågren, G.I., Hyvönen, R. and Lundkvist, H. 2007. Nitrogen budgets for Scots pine and Norway spruce ecosystems 12 and 7 years after ending of long-term fertilization. *Forest Ecology and Management* 238, 130-140.
- III Hyvönen, R., Ladanai, S., Andersson, B., Persson, T., Linder, S. and Ågren, G. 2008. Is site productivity permanently changed by fertilization ? (Manuscript).
- IV Ladanai, S., Ågren, G.I. and Olsson, B.A. 2008. Relationships between tree nutrition, soil properties and site condition in *Picea abies* and *Pinus sylvestris* forests in Sweden (Manuskript).

Papers I-II are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

1 Introduction

Mankind could not live without granting as true the fictions of logic, without measuring reality against the purely invented world of the unconditional and self-identical, without a continual falsification of the world by means of numbers (Nietzsche, 1886).

1.1 Background

Forests cover nearly 30 % (3,500 Mha) of the world's land area (excluding Greenland and Antarctica) and provide many goods and services that society depends upon, among them serving as an important sink of carbon dioxide. Environmental change, which is expected to accelerate during the next decades (e.g., IPCC, 2001a,b,c; Steffen et al., 2001), will have a large influence on forests, but the consequences of this change for forestry are still unresolved (e. g., Asner et al., 2001). Forestry is a well established branch of business, particularly in Sweden, where forests are the principal natural resources and sixty percent of the territory (about 23 million ha) is covered by forests (SVO, 2007). For the successful development of forest economy one must understand by "forest" not only the trees but the whole of their environment. A major challenge for sustaining or recovering forest service functions is to provide a valuable yield while being kind to the environment. In Sweden, all forests, according to the Forestry Act, should be managed with environmental consideration (SVO, 2007) Insights into the relationships between environmental conditions and patterns of changes in forest processes are essential for understanding the consequences of global change on forests. A key task in forest ecology is to investigate the changes in forests resulting from environmental changes.

Sustainable forest management, becoming a dominant concept for forestry worldwide, is today no longer related only to timber production, but embraces functions of the entire ecosystem (e. g., Lämås & Eriksson, 2003) and there is a rapidly growing demand for measurements and monitoring of pattern and processes at the ecosystem level in forests. But what is an ecosystem (a similar concept, biogeocoenosis, was coined by Sukachev in 1959 (Sukachev & Dylis, 1964)? Figure 1 visualize a typical terrestrial ecosystem (forest) made up of biotic factors (plants, animals, and microorganisms) and abiotic factors (air, water, rocks), i.e., an integrated system of living organisms and inorganic, non-living, environment. Like all systems ecosystems are a combination of interacting, interrelated parts that form a unitary whole or functional unit which can be made the object of scientific studies.



Figure 1. Visualization of an ecosystem consisting of atmosphere (air), hydrosphere (water), lithosphere (land) and biosphere (living material).

Cycling of nutrients is one of the major aspects of the interrelationship between plants and the soil, the components of an ecosystem that most clearly define ecosystems limits and express ecosystems nature (Rodin & Basilevich, 1967). These components are not separate entities but rather a unified system constantly in association with each other. An ecosystem perspective is fundamental in predicting the response of forest to environmental conditions (e. g., Loreau, 1998, 2000).

However, substantial uncertainty still exists about many aspects of forest ecosystems. In natural ecosystems the multiple dimensions of environmental variables, interactions among the variables, their temporal and spatial variability impose uncertainty in examining relationships between productivity and environment (Monserud & Rehfeldt, 1990; Monserud et al., 1990; Reich et al., 1997; Raich et al., 1997; Wang, 1997). The aggregated form of this uncertainty appeared already during the 1980s, when scientist, politicians and the public were very concerned about environmental pollutions and forest decline; Europe's forests were written to death and effects of air pollution, particularly acid rain, was one of the main issues of environmental research in the Nordic countries (Abrahamsen, 1996). At the same time, the overall growth of forests of Europe was increasing at unprecedented rates (Spiecker et al., 1996; Fisher & Binkley, 2000). That is, rather paradoxically the period of decline was also found to be one of accelerating growth. Beside the sociological contribution to the mismatch between perception of forest decline and reality was the uncertainties about the role of forest soils (e.g., Fisher & Binkley, 2000). Overall, the unpredicted changes of growth in European forests have illustrated our incomplete understanding of processes and principles governing forest ecosystems. Moreover, an enhanced tree growth can be a sign of ongoing changes in the system, with unknown end.

In the context of the above mentioned uncertainties there is the need for an ecosystem perspective in plant-environment issues. Plants growing in a particular environment will be influenced directly and indirectly by a whole complex of environmental factors and their interactions and one of the possible ways of studying forest response to global environmental changes is through plant responses. The annual accumulation of matter and energy in the living mass of trees is one of the most important characteristics of forest ecosystems. The perspective I have applied is one where forest ecosystem processes such as nutrients cycles, plant growth and stand development are expressed and interpreted in terms of nitrogen and other elements.

1.2 This thesis is about interactions between trees and controls on their growth

1.2.1 Trees and the climatic environment

The IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) report (IPCC 2007) leaves no doubt that human activities cause global warming. Although trees have responded to global warming in the past - to temperatures higher than they are now - the rate of change predicted in the 21st century is likely to be unprecedented (Saxe et al., 2001). There are no processes that are not affected by temperature conditions and global warming is expected to affect growth of trees.

There is a huge literature dealing with analyses of climate impact on tree growth from very different perspectives. Most of this research has been directed towards deriving statistical and empirical relations between tree growth and climatic variables. However, these correlations have shown no logical geographical or temporal patterns (Mäkinen, 2003) and reflect the current growth of trees, but not how trees will respond in the future. Our incomplete understanding of growth process identified by the unpredicted changes of growth in European forests and acceptance of global warming has reinforced forest growth modelling towards causal explanation.

The knowledge of the causes is crucial for the sustainable management of forests and causal reasoning plays an essential role in human decisionmaking. In order to consider causes or to explain a process by unravelling the hidden mechanisms underlying its regular behaviour, process-based models are needed. These models are challenged to simulate growth of structurally and physiologically complex organisms using explicit mathematical expressions to capture growth response to environmental conditions.

In order to analyse climate effect on forest growth a modeling approach was applied. In view of the concern about climatic changes, it is important to test temperature sensitivity of parameters of biological productivity with the potential to improve the utility of models for predicting forest growth in response to a changing climate.



1.2.2 Trees and the soil environment

Plants need nutrients from the soil to grow. Soils play a major role in sustaining stand productivity and forest value by regulating nutrient cycles. Soil fertility is maintained when nutrients are efficiently recycled through the soil food web and the soil-plant system. An understanding of controls on soil nutrients remains a vitally important question for determining the stock of nutrients available for plant uptake. The variability in soil nitrogen availability with climate can be a more important growth factor that the variability in tree physiology with climate (e. g., Salih et al., 2005).

Understanding the fate of nutrients deposited to terrestrial ecosystems is a key to predicting their impact, but literature concerning the long-term fate of applied nutrients in forest ecosystems is still rather limited. Continuous addition of nutrients is assumed to gradually saturate the ecosystem with nutrients and a progressively increasing proportion of applied nutrients have been assumed to circulate within the ecosystem (Aronsson & Elowsson, 1980). Thus, besides the climate changes, a fertilization effect of nitrogen deposition can be responsible for the observed increases in growth of European forests (Kahle et al., 2008). Several experiments show that nutrient content in trees and soil can increase. Thus, increased tree growth was observed rapidly after the start of nutrient additions (Tamm et al., 1999). Consequently, more C is sequestrated in the forests through significantly improved tree growth (Tamm et al., 1999; Berg et al., 1999; Högberg et al., 2006; Ladanai et al., 2007; Hyvönen et al., 2008). The sequestration of C and N in forests is an important issue in the global change debate (e.g. Tamm et al., 1999; Janzen, 2004) and there is the strong coupling between C and N (e.g., Rastetter et al., 1992, 1997). The question is whether the increased growth rate will also be sustained in the future if the nitrogen deposition declines. Forest ecosystems where nitrogen cycling has been accelerated may be able to maintain an elevated level of biomass production even when the external forcing in terms of N influx is decreased (Ingestad et al., 1981; Ingestad, 1987, 1991). However, this aspect has not been tested.

Moreover, forests are likely to be heterogeneous in their response to N (Wilson & Emmett, 1999). Thus, not all of the added nutrients contribute to C sequestration and N-use efficiency varies between experimental stands.

N-use efficiency for C sequestration in trees is strongly depended on soil N status, application rates, tree species, stand age and forms and combinations of added nutrients (e.g., Hyvönen et al., 2008). Furthermore, short-term studies can give a completely misleading picture of the long-term development (e.g., Ågren & Hyvönen, 2003) and short-term and long-term results may differ not only in degree but also in direction, but the literature concerning the long-term fate of N applied to forest ecosystems is still rather limited (Aber et al., 1989; Mälkönen et al., 1990; Mälkönen & Kukkola, 1991; Aber & Magill, 2004).

In order to answer to what extent the addition of nutrients can improve the long-term site productivity I explore the consequences of nutrient additions (their fate and redistribution) as well as the long-term effects of the interruption in the nutrient and water additions on (i) soil C and N pools, (ii) nutrient content in needles and (iii) tree growth. The effects of simultaneous acidification and liming were also investigated.

1.2.3 Relationships between indicators of plant productivity and environmental conditions

Plants and their environments are intimately connected by exchange of chemical elements and there exists reciprocal control of elemental composition (e.g., Redfield 1958; Odum 1971). Plants and other living organisms must control their internal chemical balance within certain ranges that normally differ from the chemical composition of the external environment (Ågren & Bosatta, 1998), which can vary greatly in space and time. The cycling of nutrients is one of the major aspects of the interrelationship between plants and the soil. Plant-soil interactions are major drivers of plant growth (Bonkowski et al., 2000). Overall, growth of organisms and cycling of nutrients are linked (e.g., Augustine & McNaughton, 2004).

However, inherent complexity among ecosystem components often limits our ability to resolve plant-soil interrelations (e. g., Johnson-Maynard, 2005). Investigations of the effects of soil properties on plants are often focused on growth without enough emphasis given to the mineral composition of plants. Moreover, information about soil-plant interaction are usually limited to few elements, often only one (Reimann et al., 1998), and multi-element plant chemistry data sets collected from several species under the same conditions over a large area are rare (Reimann et al., 2001). Furthermore, the biogeochemistries of the nutrients differ greatly due to the degree of biological control, chemical bond properties and the origin of the elements. Those elements that are covalently bound and coupled to biological processes for transformations, e.g., biologically controlled (such as N and C), might show different spatial properties than elements cycled through both biological and geological processes (such as P, S and K) or elements under more geological control (Ca, Mg, Mn, Fe, Al). There may also be a difference between macro- and micronutrients (e. g., Wood et al., 2006; Wanatabe et al., 2007), but the reason why micronutrients should be more variable than macronutrients is unknown. A further problem with soil-plant interaction is that plant and soil properties vary spatially and spatial variability influences structure and function of forest ecosystems (e.g., Legendre & Fortin, 1989).

The different scale of impact of elements and the different nature of their biogeochemical cycles imply large variations of their ratios in space and time and thus divergent impact on biota. This issue can be addressed by examining concentration ratios (stoichiometry) rather than variations in tissue nutrient amounts (Sterner & Elser, 2002). Despite the growing interest in ecological stoichiometry (Sterner & Elser, 2002) – an area in which mass-balance constraints for different chemical elements and their interactions with environmental constraints play an important role, this theory has been relatively limited, in particular at the whole ecosystem. Many of the ways in which elemental interactions are affected still poorly understood and there are no simple rules for how stoichiometric ratios will change (e. g., Ågren, 2004). It is suggested that by examining multiple elements in ecosystem compartments and the ratio between them, we can obtain additional insight in how these compartments are linked.

The relationship between element composition of organisms (plants) and their environment (soils) has many practical applications. Thus, many fertilization experiments suggest that element level in plants should be dictated by site properties. Thus, foliar nutrient concentrations have been related to site index (Kayahara et al., 1995; Wang, 1995). Altitude, latitude and longitude have been used as indirect measures of regional climate (e.g., Monserud et al., 1990; Klinka et al., 1996), and available soil nutrients (e.g., Fralish, 1994; Klinka et al., 1994; Wang, 1995; Wang & Klinka, 1996) in order to obtain measures of overall site quality.

In order to arrive at a better understanding of the elemental interactions in forest ecosystems, I examine how plant and soil nutrients are related in Swedish coniferous forests. One aim has been to analyze how needle nutrients and site index are related to geographic coordinates and humus properties. This objective has been accomplished by analyzing needle, humus and site characteristics sampled in 37 and 50 naturally established Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) and Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.) stands.

1.3 Why I use different approaches

Firstly, the question how forests will respond to changed environmental conditions is currently addressed with a number of different approaches, but they are not combined in most studies. An empirical or statistical approach can produce accurate predictions, but cannot provide managers with information on how to manipulate the system; the mechanistic or reductionistic approach is a powerful tool that provides information on how complex interactions affect ecosystem dynamics, but may not provide the same degree of precision as the empirical approach. Empirical models are driven by statistical assumptions that speak to the underlying process being modeled: whether or not they can be accepted is a process-based question not an empirical question (Robinson & Ek, 2000). As each approach provides a valid way to analyse forests, I suggest that using both of them may be an efficient method for achieving a more complete understanding of forest ecosystem dynamic.

Secondly, fundamental questions remain about the separate and interactive effects of climatic and edaphic variables on terrestrial ecosystems (e. g., Breshears et al., 2005). Model simulations relying on a process-based methodology reveal that the impact of temperature on net carbon gain may be by the effect of soil organic matter decomposition and mineralization of soil nutrients. However, there are no clear mechanisms explaining the response of nutrient uptake to soil temperature. Moreover, there is a lot of contradiction in empirically derived relationships between net assimilation and soil temperature (e.g., DeLucia, 1986; Day et al., 1990; Man & Lieffers, 1997; Landhausser et al, 2001). Furthermore, there is lack of a general analytical theory of nutrient uptake in soil and there is no good agreement on how to simulate nutrient uptake (Verburg et al., 2001). However, the major issue is probably how to obtain a correct estimate of the rate of nitrogen mineralization and thus the supply of nitrogen to the trees.

Overall, our mechanistic understanding of the key processes in nutrient cycles and experimental data for the model parameters will have to be improved before the process-based simulation models, that have been developed to overcome the limitations set by empirical models, can become fully operative. Instead, nutrient budgeting, indicating trends in resources at the ecosystem level (Ranger & Turpault, 1999), has been widely used to generate quantitative ecological data on ecosystem functions (Ranger et al., 2002) and as an accounting method to elucidate complex nutrient cycles (Duvigneaud & Denaeyer-De Smet, 1970; Bonito et al., 2003). Element balances have a well-established basis in natural science and rely on the underlying principle of "conservation of matter" that elements cannot be created or destroyed, but have a tendency to dissipate in the wider environment (Öborn et al., 2003).

Thirdly, because of the complexity of the interactions between plants and soil an alternative approach is to use field data to fit the relationship between element composition of plants and soils empirically and information obtained from such observations can be used to tell us, directly, about the interactions driving a plant-soil system.

1.4 Aims of thesis

The purpose of this thesis is to improve our understanding of the controls over trees growth and production by focusing on climatic and edaphic factors (Fig. 2). Additionally, this thesis attempts an integration of model and experimental research to analyze responses to environmental changes of the various forest ecosystem components that operate on multiple time and space scales.

1.5 Hypotheses

(1) I hypothesized that the responses of coniferous forests to environmental changes is time-dependent and modifies forest properties in an ecosystem-specific, e.g., soil-, species- and site-specific way.

(2) Additionally, I hypothesized that there is generality in the relations between plants and soil. Although plant-soil interactions regulate ecosystem processes and are major drivers of plant growth, the nature of soil influence on forest production has not been consistently explained.



Figure 2. Diagrammatic representation of interactions among indicators of plant productivity and environmental conditions.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Tree species

I will focus my analysis on the coniferous tree species Norway spruce (*Picea abies* (L.) Karst.) and Scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris* L.) because they are the most widespread tree species in Scandinavia and belong to the most commonly-used high-production forest species in Sweden.

2.2 Data bases

The first database used in modeling approach (paper I) includes stand level data of dry matter, production, and nitrogen content in needles of pine and spruce trees was collected from literature (Appendix 1, 2 in Paper I). It encompasses a wide range of temperature conditions and covers most of the natural geographic distribution of these species.

The second database, used in empirical approach (paper II and III) are from "Ekologen data base" (Gay et al. 1994) and from the database from fertilisation experiments at Unit for Field-based forest research, SLU. These databases includes data on stem diameters at breast height (DBH), tree heights, nutrient concentrations in biomass components, and soil nitrogen data from three different experimental sites. All studied sites are located in Central Sweden (Figure 3). I have also obtained information from published and unpublished data sets for a Scots pine stand in the Swedish Coniferous Forest Project (SWECON) at Jädraås (Persson, 1980) and for two longterm Swedish Forest Optimum Nutrition Experiments: Scots pine at Lisselbo (Tamm et al., 1974b) and Norway spruce at Stråsan (Tamm et al., 1974a). The data have been supplemented by own measurements of soil

data and tree diameter at Lisselbo and Jädraås. A brief summary of the general characteristics of experimental sites is given in Table 1.

Site	Lisselbo	Stråsan	Jädraås
Latitude, Longitude,	60°28'N; 16°57'E;	60°55'N; 16°01'E;	60°49'N; 16°30'E;
Altitude	80 m ^b	350 m ^b	185 m [°]
Experiment #	E42 ^ª	E26A ^a	E75 (IhII) [°]
Tree species	Scots pine ^b	Norway spruce ^b	Scots pine ^c
Treatment period	1969-1985°	1967-1990°	1974-1992 [°]
Soil material	Sediment ^b	Till ^b	Sedimentary gneiss ^c
Soil profile	Sandy, iron $podzol^{b}$	Glacial till, iron podzol ^b	Sandy, iron podzol ^c
Mean annual temperature,°C	4.8 ^b	3.1 ^b	3.8 ^c
Mean annual precipitation, mm	593 ^b	745 ^b	600 °
Stand age at start of treatment	14 ^b	9 ^b	15 °
Form of N added	Ammonium nitrate ^b (NH ₄ NO ₃)	Ammonium nitrate ^b (NH ₄ NO ₃)	Ammonium nitrate [°] (NH ₄ NO ₃)
Amount of fertiliser N (kg ha ⁻¹) added	240 during 1969- 1970 [°]	520 during 1967- 1971 °	1790-1030 during 1974-1992 °
	800 during 1971- 1985 °	1240 during 1972- 1990 ^a	
Additional treatments	Lime (Ca) Acidification with sulphur (Ac1, Ac2)	Lime (Ca)	

Table 1. Site characteristics and overview of treatments in the experiments.

^a Tamm and Popovic (1995)

^b Gay et al., (1994)

^c Axelsson and Bråkenhielm (1980).



Figure 3. Location of the experimental sites in Sweden.

Monitoring data from forest stands in the Swedish database for ICP Forest (International Co-operative Program on Assessment and Monitoring of Air Pollutions Effects on Forests) Level II constitutes the third database (paper IV). This database, used in an empirical approach, is a large set of data on nutrient concentrations in needles as well as site and soil characteristics and covers a wide range of Scots pine and Norway spruce stands conditions found in Sweden. In this analysis, 87 monitoring plots were used. The plots are located with increasing density from northern to southern Sweden (Figure 4). Sampling of data was performed by The Swedish Forest Agency in accordance with recommendations described by the ICP Forests program.

The tree and environmental variables with which I will work in the thesis are given in Table 2 and the following methods will be used to analyse plant-environmental interactions:

- Modelling plant growth (Sector 2.3)
- Budgeting nutrients (Sector 2.4)
- Correlations between ecosystem variables (Sector 2.5)



Figure 4. Approximate locations of the sample plots.

Table 2. Tree and environmental variables that will be used in the thesis.

Plant variables	Environmental variables		
	Climatic	Edaphic (soil)	
Site index	Latitude	Chemical characteristic	
Needle nutrients concentration	Longitude	Nutrients concentrations	
Nitrogen pool in tree components	Altitude	N pool	
Nitrogen productivity	Mean annual temperature	C pool	
Needle biomass		Nutrient ratios	
Basal area			
Nutrient ratios			

2.3 Method I: Modelling plant growth

The growth response of a tree is a complex function of several processes with both direct and indirect effects and operating at different time scales. A way to circumvent this problem is to operate at a high level of integration, thus avoiding having to look at a large number of detailed processes (Ågren, 1996; Ågren & Bosatta, 1998). It is well established that nutrients, notably nitrogen exert a strict control on growth (Ingestad, 1979, 1980, 1981). An important criterion when choosing a representation of a system is that it can be done with as few qualitatively different processes as possible (Ågren, 1984). Thus, the growth response to nitrogen was formalized in the nitrogen productivity concept (Ågren, 1983ab, 1985; Ågren & Bosatta, 1998), which states that the relation between the plant's absolute growth rate and its content of nitrogen is linear. The nitrogen productivity concept (Fig. 5) integrates a large number of complicated processes and reduces them into one single linear relationship between growth and nitrogen, where the simple basic equation has the following form

$$\frac{dW}{dt} = P_N (N - c_{N,min} W) \tag{1}$$

where W is plant biomass (dry weight), N amount of nitrogen in the plant, t time, $c_{N,min}$ a certain minimum concentration of nitrogen in plant that is not active in growth and thus discounted, and P_N the nitrogen productivity. Thus, the nitrogen productivity expresses the amount of plant mass produced per unit of time and nitrogen.



Figure 5. Visualization of the nitrogen productivity concept, where a large number of complicated plant processes that are involved in growth are integrated and reduced into one single linear relationship between growth and nitrogen. The production of plant biomass is in this way placed in the context of carbon and nitrogen cycling between plants and soil in an ecosystem.

In process-based growth model (Eq. 1) based on the nitrogen productivity concept the production of plant biomass couples the carbon and nitrogen cycling between plant and soil in an ecosystem. However, the usefulness of the relation (Eq. 1) depends on its ability to perform under a varied set of climatic conditions. The nitrogen productivity is constant over a wide range of nitrogen concentrations, but the parameter should in principle depend upon external variables such as weather, which limits growth independently of the mineral nutrients (Ågren, 1983ab).

For simplicity, the nitrogen productivity has been applied to the production of new foliage. On the other hand, foliage drives the production of other tree components and knowledge of foliage biomass should therefore suffice to predict total tree growth. Nitrogen productivity (for foliage production) for a given stand, defined as the amount of foliage produced per amount of nitrogen in the canopy per unit of time (Ågren, 1983a), was calculated as biomass of current-year needles/total nitrogen in needle biomass. This calculation uses the idea that growth of needles can be equated with current-year needle biomass and that the determining resource is nitrogen in the needle biomass.

Mechanistic (modelling) approach requires a strict relationship between causes and consequences (Kryazhimskii et al., 2001). Nitrogen productivity for production of new foliage, where canopy size and architecture influence light interception and self-shading becomes important and causes the nitrogen productivity to decrease with the size of the canopy, which can be expressed as

$$P_N = a - bW_c \tag{2}$$

where W_c is the total needle biomass, and *a* and *b* are species-specific parameters (Ågren, 1983a). Using this model we tested the temperature sensitivity of nitrogen productivity by analysing the temperature sensitivity of the parameters *a* and *b*.

2.4 Method II: Budgeting nutrients in forest ecosystems experiments

Various terms in the ecosystem nitrogen budget have been quantified by estimating the total content of N in the three important compartments in the ecosystem [i.e. whole tree biomass, humus layer, and mineral soil 0–20 cm (pine stand) and 0–30 cm (spruce stand)]. The nitrogen storage in the pine stand at Lisselbo was estimated for 1971 and 1997, when the first and last soil samplings, respectively, were made. The spruce stand at Stråsan was monitored from 1972, when the first basal area measurement was made, until 2003, when the last diameter measurement was made. The inputs of nitrogen that we included were inorganic fertiliser, wet plus dry deposition, and biological N-fixation. The changes in nitrogen pools were calculated as

the differences in nitrogen amounts in trees, humus layer, and mineral soil between the beginning and the end of the investigation period. However, soil N pool changes over time in the spruce stand were based on comparisons between control and treated plots in 1997 because initial data were lacking. I have also examined long-term effects of interruption of annual nutrient loading on tree growth and soil C and N stores by analyzing data from an experiment in the pine stand at Jädraås.

Biomasses of tree components (needles, branches, stems and roots) have been estimated from average tree diameter at breast height using speciesspecific regression functions (Marklund, 1988). The N stocks in the tree components have been calculated by multiplying the biomass of each component by published nitrogen concentrations.

2.5 Method III: Correlations between ecosystem variables

I have used observations sampled in 1995, 1996 and 1997 for 50 Norway spruce and 37 Scots pine stands. General site variables, needle variables and soil variables were selected. The general site variables includes the Swedish site index H100 (the height of dominant trees at age 100 years, Hägglund & Lundmark, 1977), latitude, longitude and altitude. The soil variables included only the humus layer and contains concentrations by dry mass of C, N and P (total content by dry oxidation method), extractable hydrogen ions and salt extractable cations (0.1 M BaCl followed by ICP analysis). The needle variables were plant essential nutrients (macronutrients: N, P, K, S, Ca, Mg; micronutrients Mn and Fe) along with nonessential nutrients (Na and Al) in one-year old needles. Nutrient concentrations have been expressed both relative to C and N in order to investigate different stoichiometric variables.

Coefficients of variation (CV = standard deviation/mean) has used to express variability in soil and needle variables. Pearson's rank correlation coefficients have been calculated for a range of combination of variables to find factors relevant in soil-plant interrelations. The obtained data matrix contained 830 analyses of 22 needles and 25 soil variables. For our evaluation, the evidence of trends as well as the strength of the connection was important. Correlations coefficients larger than 0.32 and 0.27 for pine and spruce, respectively, are considered significant (P< 0.05).

3 Results and discussions

3.1 Climate impact on tree growth (Paper I)

From the mechanistic (modelling) approach it is clear that nitrogen productivity and needle biomass is negatively related (Fig. 6, 7). While temperature has no effect on nitrogen productivity for Norway spruce (Fig. 7), nitrogen productivity for Scots pine is sensitive, although weakly, to temperature and the sensitivity affects both the magnitude at low needle biomass and self-shading (Fig. 6). Nitrogen productivity decreases with temperature except at the large needle biomasses. I see two possible explanations. First of all, it should be observed that nitrogen productivity represents the net carbon gain of a canopy and is therefore a balance between photosynthesis and respiration (Ågren, 1996). In natural environments changes in temperature are often accompanied by changes in light intensity and our observations suggest in consistency with other observations (Ziska & Bunce, 1997; Ellsworth, 2000, Hennessey & Field, 1991) that pronounced impact of light availability on net assimilation exceeds the impact of temperature. Secondly, increasing temperature may also be accompanied by water stress, which could lead to decreasing production with increasing temperature as a result of increasing evaporative demands. Climatic changes, where the pattern of precipitation is altered, may therefore require a revision of our analyses. The observed decrease of sensitivity towards the large needle biomass could be a shift from a juvenile to an adult growth phase. Unfortunately, there is a lack of knowledge about the response of mature trees to climate change (Källomäki et al., 2000). Finally, much of the difference at low needle biomasses depends on a few data points and over large ranges of needle biomasses the difference between high and low temperature is small.



Figure 6. The relation between nitrogen productivity and needle biomass for *P. sylvestris* stands. Regressions: broken line and filled circles (T < 5) $P_N = 37.82 - 1.52W$, $r^2 = 0.38$; broken line and open circles (T > 5) $P_N = 31.70 - 1.16W$, $r^2 = 0.26$; solid line and all circles (all T) $P_N = 35.8 - 1.57W$; $r^2 = 0.33$



Figure 7. The relation between nitrogen productivity and needle biomass for *P. abies*. Regressions: broken line and filled circles (T < 5) $P_N = 21.22 - 0.43W$, r² = 0.14; broken line and open circles (T > 5) $P_N = 17.59 - 0.23W$, r² = 0.11; solid line and all circles (all T) $P_N = 19.80 - 0.37W$; r² = 0.16

Overall, as the two investigated coniferous species have rather different physiologies, it is possible that other conifers could show a similar insensitivity in nitrogen productivity. However, temperature also influences tree growth indirectly by its effect on decomposition of soil organic matter and mineralization of soil nutrients (Eberhardt et al., 2000); this might be the mechanism through which long-term temperature effects operate.

3.2 Nutrients factor of tree growth (Papers II, III)

The concentrations of N in current needles in the Jädraås experiment are shown in Figure 8. The basal area development for the three stands and different treatments are shown in Figure 9. In all stands and treatments investigated, the fertilisation increased basal area, more strongly, however, for spruce than pine. In the spruce stand, the growth stimulation was so strong in all fertilised plots that by the end of the fertilisation period, the basal area in the fertilised plots was about three times that in the unfertilised plots. However, once fertilisation had ceased, all treatments in all stands had similar rates of basal area growth except the NPK treatment at Lisselbo, which had a somewhat more rapid development, and Ca and Ac1 treatments, which fell behind. Moreover, needle nitrogen concentrations decreased to the same levels as in the unfertilised plots after the interruption.



Figure 8. Changes over time in concentrations of N in current (C+0) needles in the four treatments in the Jädraås experiment. Control: O. Irrigation: Δ . Fertilization: \bullet . Irrigation+fertilization: \blacktriangle .



Figure 9. Basal area development for pine and spruce stands and different treatments. Pine at Lisselbo: C (\bullet), Ca (\circ), Ac1 (∇), Ac2 (Δ), NPK (\blacksquare), NPKAc1 (\Box), NPKAc2 (\bullet), NPKCa (\Diamond), only one data point. Spruce at Stråsan: C (\bullet), NPK (\circ), NPKCa (∇). Pine at Jädraås: C (\bullet), I (\circ), F (∇), IF (Δ).

The distribution of N between ecosystem compartments in the Lisselbo pine and the Stråsan spruce stands 12 and 7 years after the end of long-term fertilisation is shown in Figure 10. In both stands, the effects of the N additions could still be observed after the N addition had ceased. However, there are differences in response between the pine and spruce stands. In both stands fertilization increased biomass and this biomass increase was sustained in all spruce plots but only in the NPK-fertilized pine plots. However, there are differences between the experiments at Lisselbo and Stråsan and the complete nutrient experiment at Jädraås, where the fertilization resulted in a long-term increase in the forest production and probably also caused a shift in N uptake from organic towards inorganic forms (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Volume growth versus volume in the experiment. Control (0) is denoted with O, irrigation (I) with Δ , fertilization (F) with \bullet , and irrigation+fertilization (IF) with \blacktriangle . Solid lines connect periods with fertilization. Dashed lines connect periods without fertilization.

As a result of a significant increase in humus N, the N applications caused significant changes in ecosystem N content and total soil N in the pine experiment at Lisselbo. There was also a significant increase in mineral soil N in the NPK and NPKAc2 treatments (Fig. 11). In the spruce stand, the increase in the soil was restricted to the humus layer, whereas the mineral soil N pool might rather have decreased. The differences in response between the pine and spruce stands are probably attributable to

species difference. The potential of spruce to increase its needle biomass is much larger than that of pine; Ågren (1983a) estimated the maximum needle biomasses for pine and spruce to be 20000 and 49000kg DW ha⁻¹, respectively. Another aspect is the differences in soil texture (Tab. 1) and hence soil nutrient retention capacity. The effects of acidification or liming in addition to the fertilisation had no consistent pattern. Without fertiliser, acidification and liming seem to be almost without long-term effects, although it is possible that high acid dosage increased N stocks somewhat more.



Figure 11. Nitrogen pools in 1997 in the Lisselbo pine and Stråsan spruce ecosystems compartments. Significant differences (P<0.05) between control and treatments are marked with (*).

The nitrogen economy of the pine ecosystem, averaged for fertilized and unfertilized plots is shown in Figure 12. Pool changes of nitrogen in pine ecosystem compartments are shown in Figures 13. The N budgets are not closed. The losses of N in the fertilized pine plots are most likely leaching losses. There are two potential sources for the extra N in the unfertilized plots. First of all, it is likely that some nitrogen is derived from mineralization in deeper soil horizons than those included in the budgets. Another possible explanation for the N deficit is the uncertainty in the total input. Nitrogen fixation is one uncertain component in the total input. If an ecosystem responds to N deposition as the trees in fertilization experiments, the nitrogen pools of ecosystem compartments and hence C sequestration, is expected to increase with N deposition in N-limited forest. However, it is evident that trees and soils differ in response to N addition. Thus, deposition of N increases N in trees and decreases the N stock in mineral soil layers. Moreover, the risk of nitrogen leaching cannot be assessed only on the basis of nitrogen addition; the ability of an ecosystem to retain N, particularly in deep mineral soil horizons, has to be taken into account.



Figure 12. An overview of the nitrogen economy of the pine forest ecosystems at Lisselbo, expressed as averages for fertilized (+N) and unfertilized (-N) plots, respectively. For details of treatments, see Table 2 in Paper II. Values are kg N ha⁻¹ per 26 years and show the sum of inputs, net increments in trees and soil (pool changes over 26 years) and amount of N not unaccounted for.

On average, 56 % of the applied N in the Lisselbo pine stand, added alone or in combination with acid in high doses, still remained in the soil (Fig. 13). This is considerably more than the average 35% for all fertilized plots (Fig. 12) and the 30% reported previously (Tamm *et al.*, 1999). On the other hand, when N was added in combination with low acid or lime, only 13 % remained in the soil. Even if the increased growth of forests can be linked to increased nitrogen availability, the differences in growth responses across fertilizer combinations (Fig. 11) indicate that factors other than nitrogen are of significance. A larger increases in soil nitrogen in the NPK and NPKAc2 plots compared to NPKAc1 and NPKCa plots (Fig. 11) as well as higher retention capacity of these plots compared to other fertilized plots (Fig. 13) indicate that the interaction between N deposition and acidification remains a controversial issue.



Figure 13. Pool changes of N in pine ecosystem compartments: a) Relative to total inputs; b) Relative to change in ecosystem.

3.3 Relations between ecosystem variables (Paper IV)

I will in this section focus on the relative strengths of the controls of different element cycles in forest ecosystems. Elements that are under biological or geological control should show low variability and those that are related should have high correlations.

3.3.1 Variability in needle and soil properties

Table 3 and Figure 14 give a compilation of CV's in 22 needle and 25 humus variables. The variability in humus properties is considerably larger than in needle properties; this should be a result of humus properties being determined by both litter (needle) properties and soil processes. There is a coupling between variability in needles and humus (Figure 15) such that variables that vary much in needles also vary much in the humus; this is most clearly seen in spruce. Together this suggests that negative feedbacks stabilizing the interactions between elements are exerted by the trees and not in the soil (humus).

Table 3. List of variables with abbreviations used in figures and tables and their coefficients of variation (CV) for humus and needle variables in pine and spruce stands. CV's for element/carbon ratios in needles are by definition equivalent to element concentrations in needles but are included in the table for easy comparison with element/carbon ratios in humus.

		CV, %			
		Pine		Spruce	
		Needle	Humus	Needle	Humus
Needles and humus variables	Abbreviation				
Basic variables					
Hydrogen ions extractable	Н		41		49
Aluminium	Al		44		87
Sodium	Na		61		69
Organic carbon (total)	C-tot		33		29
Organic nitrogen (total)	N-tot	14	38	11	29
Phosphorous (total)	P-tot	13	20	18	26
Potassium	К	31	49	23	45
Sulphur	S	10		11	
Calcium	Ca	38	45	25	54
Magnesium	Mg	12	55	13	42
Iron	Fe	18	92	24	124
Manganese	Mn	32	85	31	106
Nitrogen scaled variables					
Carbon nitrogen ratio	C/N		17		13
Phosphorus nitrogen ratio	P/N	10	62	22	42
Potassium nitrogen ratio	K/N	33	59	28	46
Sulphur nitrogen ratio	S/N	10		12	
Calcium nitrogen ratio	Ca/N	42	64	27	60
Magnesium nitrogen ratio	Mg/N	18	72	19	33
Iron nitrogen ratio	Fe/N	15	82	26	122
Manganese nitrogen ratio	Mn/N	35	108	30	132
Carbon scaled variables					
Nitrogen carbon ratio	N/C	14	17	11	13
Phosphorous carbon ratio	P/C	13	80	18	43
Potassium carbon ratio	K/C	31	49	23	41
Calcium carbon ratio	Ca/C	38	75	25	56
Magnesium carbon ratio	Mg/C	12	95	13	34
Iron carbon ratio	Fe/C	18	86	24	133
Manganese carbon ratio	Mn/C	32	109	31	137



Figure 14. Box plots of coefficients of variation (CV, %) of needle and humus variables in pine and spruce stands. The box plot shows the median (line), 75th and 25th percentiles (box), the 5th and 95th percentiles.



Figure 15. Correlations between humus CV and needle CV for: a) nutrient to carbon ratios (N/C, P/C, K/C, Ca/C, Mg/C, Fe/C, Mn/C); b) nutrient to nitrogen ratios (P/N, K/N, Ca/N, Mg/N, Fe/N, Mn/N). Pine: broken line and open symbols. Spruce: solid line and filled symbols.

It is difficult to clearly distinguish groups of elements with clear differences in variability. The differences in variability between species are small. The similarity between tree species might be a result of overall similarities in physiology whereas the lack of differences between humus properties might reflect the small, in global perspective, variability in bedrock properties.

3.3.2 Correlations between variables

Variables that have at least one significant correlation coefficient with another variable are given in Tables 2-8 in paper IV. The fractions of significant correlations between variables are shown in Figure 16.



Figure 16. Proportion of significant correlations between ecosystem variables in pine and spruce stands in percent of all possible within a category.

Correlations with site variables

Climate, as reflected by geographical location, has an overall effect on productivity (site index), Figure 17. Latitude, which correlates with temperature, shows the strongest effect followed by longitude, which correlates with precipitation. For both variables the correlations are strongest for spruce, which may be a result of pine having a wider niche and thus its production will be more strongly affected by other variables than those captured in physical climate. Altitude correlates, but weakly, with site index probably because the effects of latitude and longitude override altitude as a factor.



Figure 17. Correlations between site index and geographic variables in pine and spruce stands. Pine: broken line and open symbols. Spruce: solid line and filled symbols.

The few correlations between site properties and humus are probably spurious (Figure 18). Needle variables are more strongly related to geographical variables than humus variables (Figure 19). The strong positive relation between SI (and negative for latitude and longitude) and needle N concentration reflects the larger requirements for N at higher growth rates (Figure 18). From general stoichiometric theory (Sterner & Elser 2002; Ågren, 2008) positive relations between growth rates and element concentration are expected as observed for pine. A possible explanation for the negative correlations in spruce is that nitrogen is growth limiting and that the availability of the other, non-limiting, elements increases slower than growth with a resulting dilution effect.



Figure 18. Significant correlations between humus and site variables in spruce and pine stands.


Figure 19. Significant correlations between needle and site variables in spruce and pine stands.

Correlations between needle variables

All of the correlations between element concentrations in the needles are positive except K versus Ca in pine (Figure 20) which is the only sign of antagonistic relations between elements (e. g., Lamppu & Huttunen, 2003). The correlations are dominated by those where organically bound elements are involved. In pine, but not spruce, N and P are the most strongly coupled elements, which agrees with the suggestion by Knecht and Göransson (2004) that the uptake of these two elements should be the most strongly regulated. Overall, there is a stronger control of macronutrients in trees.



Figure 20. Significant correlations between needle variables in spruce and pine stands.

The choice of basis for expressing needle element content is important (Figure 21). Using N as a basis rather than dry mass or C increases the number of correlations. This indicates that from a stoichiometric perspective N is a more important reference than C. The reason is probably that C compounds make the structure as well as serve as storage compounds (e.g. starch) and expressing element concentrations relative to N capture more of functions.



Figure 21. Significant correlations between needle nutrient ratios in spruce and pine stands.

Correlations between humus variables

Humus variables turn out to be those that are most strongly correlated among themselves (Figure 16). In contrast to needles, the biologically controlled elements (C, N, P) do not dominate the number of correlations but correlations between the other elements are frequent as well (Tables 5, 6 in paper IV). This could be a sign of the importance of purely chemical exchange reactions in maintaining element balances in humus. A reason for the tight correlation could be that fresh litter is less variable with respect to element concentration than live tissue as a result of retranslocation during senescence. As a consequence of the tight correlations between C and N in humus, it makes in contrast to needle variables little difference if correlations between elements in humus are calculated with C or N as basis.

Needle variables versus humus variables

There are almost no correlations to be found between needle and humus basic variables for pine and only a quarter of the possible ones are significant for spruce (Figures 16, 22). This lack of strong coupling between vegetation and soil is not unique to our investigation. For example, Wood *et al.* (2006)

found in their study in Costa Rican rain forests that relations between soil element stocks and leaf nutrient concentrations existed for only two (P, Mn), and possibly Ca, out of seven investigated elements. This lack of correlations is partly explained by the noise created by the variable content (minerals in the humus samples). However, even when I get around this problem by normalizing relative to C and N, there are still few correlations in pine stands. The decoupling between living needles and their dead remains in the humus should in part result from retranslocation of nutrients in needles at senescence. The existence of several correlations of this kind in spruce forests (Figure 22) may be an indication that pine forests in general are rather open with important contributions to humus formation from ground vegetation in contrast to dense spruce forests with in some cases no ground vegetation at all.



Figure 22. Significant correlations between humus and needle variables in spruce and pine stands.

4 Conclusions

One main result is that the nitrogen productivity or net carbon gain of conifer canopy is not sensitive to temperature. This emphasizes thee importance of indirect effects of climatic change through effects on nutrient availability.

Another striking observation is that the response of boreal coniferous forest ecosystems to long-term nitrogen addition is time-, species- and sitespecific. Thus, when N additions decline or are terminated, some ecosystems are likely to revert to pre-treatment N stocks. Moreover, tree species differ in their partitioning of added N; in pine ecosystem the soil is the major sink for N, whereas trees conserve a large proportion of added N in the spruce ecosystem. Furthermore, the accelerated growth of European forests is probably linked to increased nitrogen availability, but the differences in growth responses across fertiliser combinations indicate that factors other than nitrogen are of significance. The interaction between N deposition and acidification, which remains a controversial issue, the ability of the ecosystem to retain nitrogen and the mineral soil, which is likely to participate actively in N cycling, are all important to include when quantifying the long-term capacity of forest ecosystems to retain and redistribute nitrogen. Mode of nutrient addition matters. Chronic addition of complete nutrient solution resulted in long-term production increase, while the result of high annual doses of macronutrients was that production converged towards similar level. Overall, the hypothesis (1) that the responses of coniferous forests to environmental changes is time-dependent and modifies forest properties in an ecosystem-specific way is supported.

There is a difference in the relative strengths of the control of element cycles in forest ecosystems both between different tree species and between

ecosystem components (plant and soil). As a consequence, the hypothesis (2) that there is generality in the relations between plant and soil must include that the links in element cycling between trees and the humus formed under them is stronger in spruce forest than in pine forests. Spruce production is also more strongly affected than pine production by variables captured in physical climate. This suggests a tighter biogeochemical cycling of nutrients in spruce ecosystems. Humus is formed by biological processes but it is also a substrate for chemical exchange reactions. Because plants and decomposers have different stoichiometries, this mixture (humus) will be less well defined than its end members the fresh litter and the decomposers. On the other hand, humus as a substrate for exchange reactions are similar independently of site.

The biogeochemistries of the nutrients differ greatly, but the biological control is not limited to only the organically bound elements that require biological processes for transformations. Moreover, the basis for investigating stoichiometric relations is important. The use of N as a basis in stoichiometric relations rather than C or dry weight points to more relations between elements. However, stoichiometric relations are not entirely rigid. The hypothesis (2) that there is generality in the relations between plant and soil is not supported must include that there are differences between elements.

There is a strict control of the relations between N and C in both needles and humus. There is also control, although less so, in the relations between several other elements but some elements that seem also to be under no biological control (e.g. Mn). One might therefore travesty Odum (1971) "The ecosystem is less than the sum of its part".

References

- Aber, J.D. & Magill, A.H. 2004. Chronic nitrogen additions at the Harvard Forest (USA): The first 15 years of a nitrogen saturation experiment. *Forest Ecology and Management 196*, 1-5.
- Aber, J.D., Nadelhoffer, K.J, Steudler, P. & Melillo, J.M. 1989. Nitrogen saturation in northern forest ecosystem - hypotheses and implications. *BioScience* 39, 378-386.
- Abrahamsen, G. 1996. Scandinavian forest productivity and acid deposition. In: Kohno, Y. (ed) Proceedings of CRIEPI International Seminar on Transport and Effects of Acidic Substances, pp. 159–174. Tokyo, Japan.
- Ågren G.I. 1996. Nitrogen productivity or photosynthesis minus respiration to calculate plant growth. *Oikos* 76, 529-535.
- Ågren, G.I. & Bosatta, E. 1998. Theoretical Ecosystem Ecology. Understanding Element Cycles. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 233.
- Ågren, G.I. & Hyvönen, R. 2003. Changes in carbon stores in Swedish forest soils due to increased biomass harvest and increased temperatures analysed with a semi-empirical model. *Forest Ecology and Management* 174, 25-37.
- Ågren, G.I. 1983a. Nitrogen productivity of some conifers. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 13, 494-500.
- Ågren, G.I. 1983b. The concept of nitrogen productivity in forest growth modelling. Mitteilungen der Forstlishen Bundesversuchsanstalt 147, 199-210.
- Ågren, G.I. 1984. Forest growth and nutrient dynamics. In: Ågren, G.I. (ed) *State and Change in Forest Ecosystems. Indicators in Current Research.* Proceedings from the ESF workshop. Report 79, pp 111-119, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden, 21-24 march 1983.
- Ågren, G.I. 1985. Theory for growth of plants derived from the nitrogen productivity concept. *Physiologia Plantarum 64*, 17-28.
- Ågren, G.I. 2004. The C:N:P stoichiometry of autotrophs: theory and observations. *Ecology Letters* 7, 185-191.
- Ågren, G.I. 2008. Stoichiometry and nutrition of plant growth in natural communities. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution and Systematics 39, 153-170.

- Aronsson, A. & Elowson, S. 1980. Effects of irrigation and fertilization on mineral nutrients in Scots pine needles. In Persson T. (ed) Structure and Function of Northern Coniferous Forests – An Ecosystem Study. *Ecological Bulletins 32*, 219–228.
- Asner, G.P., Townsend, A.R., Riley, W.J., Matson, P.A., Neff, J.C. & Cleveland, C.C. 2001. Physical and biogeochemical controls over terrestrial ecosystem responses to nitrogen deposition. *Biogeochemistry* 54, 1–39.
- Augustine, D.J. & McNaughton, S.J. 2004. Temporal asynchrony in soil nutrient dynamics and plant production in a semiarid ecosystem. *Ecosystems* 7, 829–840.
- Axelsson, B. & Bråkenhielm, S. 1980. Investigation sites of the Swedish Coniferous Forest Project –. Biological and physiographical features. In: Persson T. (ed.), Structure and Function of Northern Coniferous Forests – An Ecosystem Study. *Ecological Bulletins 32*, 25-64.
- Bergh, J., Linder, S., Lundmark, T. & Elfving, B. 1999. The effect of water and nutrient availability on the productivity of Norway spruce in northern and southern Sweden. *Forest Ecology and Management 119*, 51-62.
- Bonito, G.M., Coleman, D.C., Haines, B.L. & Cabrera, M.L. 2003 Can nitrogen budget explain differences in soil nitrogen mineralization rates of forest stands along an elevation gradient? *Forest Ecology and Managemenet* 176, 563-574.
- Bonkowski, M., Cheng, W., Griffiths, B.S., Alphei, J. & Scheu, S. 2000. Microbial-faunal interactions in the rhizosphere and effects on plant growth. *European Journal of Soil Biology* 36, 135-147.
- Day, T.A., DeLucia, E.H. & Smith, W.K. 1990. Effect of soil temperature on stem sap flow, shoot gas exchange and water potencial of *Picea engelmannii* during snowmelt. *Oecologia 84*, 474-481.
- DeLucia, E.H. 1986. Effects of low root temperature on net photosyntesis, stomatal conductance and carbohydrate concentration in Engelman spruce (*Picea engelmannii* [P.] Engelm.) seedlings. *Tree Physiology 2*, 526-533.
- Duvigneaud, P. & Denaeyer-De-Smet, S. 1970. Biological cycling of minerals in temperate deciduous forests. In Reichle, D.E. (ed) *Analysis of Temperate Forests Ecosystems* 14, 199– 225.
- Eberhardt, M., V, Lee, C.Y. & Liu, R.H. 2000. Constraints to growth of boreal forests. *Nature* 405, 904-905.
- Ellsworth, D.S. 2000. Seasonal CO2 assimilation and stomatal limitations in a *Pinus taeda* canopy. *Tree Physiology 20*, 435-445.
- Fisher, R.F. & Binkley, D. 2000. Ecology and Management of Forest Soils. John Wiley & Sons, Inc. pp. 431-432.
- Fralish, J.S. 1994. The Effect of Site Environment on Forest Productivity in the Illinois Shawnee Hills. *Ecological Applications 4*, 134–143.
- Gay, C., Tamm, C.O., Aronsson, A., Flower-Ellis, J. & Linder, S. 1994. A User's Manual for the Ecologen Database System. Swedish University of Agricultural Science. Department of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, Uppsala, Report No. 59.
- Hägglund, B. & Lundmark, J-E. 1977. Site index estimation by means of site properties. Scots pine and Norway spruce in Sweden. *Studia Forestalia Suecica 138*, p. 38.
- 44

- Hennessey, T.L. & Field, C.B. 1991. Circadian rhythms in photosynthesis oscillations in carbon assimilation and stomatal conductance under constant conditions. *Plant Physiology* 96, 831–836.
- Högberg, P., Fan, H.B., Quist, M.P., Binkley, D. & Tamm, C.O. 2006. Tree growth and soil acidification in response to 30 years of experimental nitrogen loading on boreal forest. *Global Change Biology* 12, 489-499.
- Hyvönen R., Persson T., Andersson S., Olsson B., Ågren G. & Linder S. 2008. Impact of long-term nitrogen addition on carbon stocks in trees and soils in northern Europe. *Biogeochemistry 89*, 121-137.
- Ingestad, T. 1979. A definition of optimum nutrient requirements in birch seedlings. III. Influence of pH and temperature of nutrient solution. *Physiologia Plantarum* 46, 31-35.
- Ingestad, T. 1980. Growth, nutrition, and nitrogen fixation in grey alder at varied rate of nitrogen addition. *Physiologia Plantarum* 50, 353-364.
- Ingestad, T. 1981. Nutrition and growth of birch and grey alder seedlings in low productivity solutions and at varied relative rates of nutrient addition. *Physiologia Plantarum* 52, 454-466.
- Ingestad, T. 1987. New concepts on soil fertility and plant nutrition as illustrated by research on forest trees and stands. *Geoderma 40*, 237-252.
- Ingestad, T. 1991. Nutrition and growth of forest tress. Tappi Journal 74, 55-62.
- Ingestad, T., Aronsson, A. & Ågren G.I. 1981. Nutrient flux density model of mineral nutrition in conifer ecosystems. *Studia Forestalia Suecia 161*, 61–72.
- IPCC 2001a. Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- IPCC 2001b. Climate Change 2001: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Contribution of Working Group II to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- IPCC 2001c. Climate Change 2001: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- IPCC 2007. Climate Change 2007: Impacts, Adaptation and Vulnerability. Summary for Policymakers, http://www.ipce.ch/SPM13aprO7.pdf.
- Janzen, H.H. 2004. Carbon cycling in earth systems A soil science perspective. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 104, 399-417.
- Johnson-Maynard, J.L., Graham, R.C., Shouse, P.J. & Quideau, S.A. 2005. Base cation and silicon biogeochemistry under pine and scrub oak monocultures: Implications for weathering rates. *Geoderma 126*, 353-365.
- Kahle, H.P., Karjalainen, T., Schuck, A., Ågren, G.I., Kellomäki, S., Mellert, K., Prietzel, J., Rehfuess, K.E. & Spiecker, H (eds.) 2008. *Causes and Consequences of Forest Growth Trends* in Europe - Results of the RECOGNITION Project. European Forest Institute Research Report 21. Leiden, Brill.
- Kälomäki, S., Karjalainen, T., Mohren, F. & Lapveteläinen, T. 2000. General assessment. In: Kälomäki, S., Karjalainen, T., Mohren, F., Lapveteläinen, T. (eds) *Expert Assessments on*

the Likely Impacts of Climate Change on Forests and Forestry in Europe. EFI Proceedings, Joensuu, Finland, pp 18–20.

- Kayahara, G.J., Carter, R.E. & Klinka, K. 1995. Site index of western hemlock (Tsuga heterophylla) in relation to soil nutrient and foliar chemical measures. *Forest Ecology and Management* 74, 161-169.
- Klinka, K., Wang, Q.Q. & Kayahara, G.J. 1994. Quantitative characterization of nutrient regimes in some boreal forest soils. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science* 74, 29-38.
- Klinka, K., Wang, Q.Q., Carter, R.E. & Chen, H.Y.H. 1996. Height growth-elevation relationships in subalpine forests of interior British Columbia. *Forestry Chronicle* 72, 193-198.
- Knecht, M.F & Göransson, A. 2004. Terrestrial plants require nutrients in similar proportions. *Tree Physiology 24*, 447-460.
- Kryazhimskii, F.A., Bol´shakov, V.N. & Koryukin, V.I. 2001. Man in the light of current ecological problems. *Russian Journal of Ecology 32*, 369-374.
- Ladanai, S., Ågren, G.I., Hyvönen, R., Lundkvist, H. 2007. Nitrogen budgets for Scots pine and Norway spruce ecosystems 12 and 7 years after the end of long-term fertilisation. *Forest Ecology and Management 238*, 130-140.
- Lämås, T. & Eriksson, L.O. 2003. Analysis and planning systems for multiresource, sustainable forestry: The Heureka research programme at SLU. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research 33*, 500-508.
- Lamppu, J. & Huttunen, S. 2003. Relations between Scots pine needle element concentrations and decreased needle longevity along pollution gradients. *Environmental Pollution 122*, 119-126.
- Landhausser, S.M., DesRochers, A. & Leiffers, V.J. 2001. A comparison of growth and physiology in Picea glauca and Populus tremuloides at different soil temperature. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research 31*, 1922-1929.
- Legendre, P. & Fortin, M.J. 1989. Spatial pattern and ecological analysis. Vegetatio 80, 107-138.
- Loreau, M. 2000. Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: Recent theoretical advances. Oikos 91, 3-17.
- Loreau, M. 1998. Ecosystem development explained by competition within and between material cycles. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B 265*, 33-38.
- Mäkinen, H., Nöjd P., Kahle H.P., Neuman, U., Tveite, B., Mielikäinen, K., Röhle, H. & Spiecker, H. 2003. Large-scale climatic variability and radial increment variation of Picea abies (L.) Karst. in central and northern Europe. *Trees* 17, 173-184.
- Mälkönen, E. & Kukkola, M. 1991. Effect of long-term fertilization on the biomass production and nutrient status of Scots pine stands. *Fertilizer Research* 27, 113-127.
- Mälkönen, E., Derome, J. & Kukkola, M. 1990. Effects of nitrogen inputs on forest ecosystems, estimation based on long-term fertilization experiments. In Kauppi, P., Anttila, P., Kenttämes, K. (eds) *Acidification in Finland*. Springer-Verlag, Berlin – Heidelberg, pp. 325-347.
- Man, R. & Lieffers, V.I. 1997. Seasonal variation of photosynthetic capacities of white spruce (*Picea glauca*) and jack pine (*Picea banksiana*) saplings. *Canadian Journal of Botany* 75, 1766-1771.
- 46

- Marklund, L.G. 1988. Biomass Functions for Pine, Spruce and Birch in Sweden. Swedish University of Agricultural Science. Report 45, Department of Forest Survey, Uppsala, Sweden.
- Monserud, R.A. & Rehfeldt, G.E. 1990. Genetic and environmental components of variation of site index in inland Douglas-fir. *Forest Science* 36, 1-9.
- Monserud, R.A., Moody, U. & Breuer, D.W. 1990. A soil-site study for inland Douglas-fir. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 20, 686-695.
- Nietzsche, F. 1990. Beyond Good and Evil: Prelude to a Philosophy of the Future. Reprinted with review. Harmondsworth: Penguin Books.
- Öborn, I., Edwards, A.C., Witter, E., Oenema C, O., Ivarsson, K., Withers, P.J.A., Nilsson, S.I. & Richert Stinzing, A. 2003. Element balances as a tool for sustainable nutrient management: A critical appraisal of their merits and limitations within an agronomic and environmental context. *European Journal of Agronomy 20*, 211–225.
- Odum, E.P. 1971. *Fundamentals of Ecology*. 3rd ed. W.B. Saunders Company, Toronto, Ontario, p. 23.
- Persson, T. (ed) 1980. Structure and Function of Northern Coniferous Forests An Ecosystem Study. *Ecological Bulletins 32*.
- Raich, J.W., Russell, A.E. & Vitousek, P.M., 1997. Primary productivity and ecosystem development along an elevational gradient on Mauna Loa, Hawaii. *Ecology* 78, 707–721.
- Ranger, J. & Turpault, M.P. 1999. Input-output nutrients budgets as a diagnostic tool for sustainable forest management. *Forest Ecology and Management 122*, 139–154.
- Ranger, J., Allie, S., Gelhaye, D., Pollier, B., Turpault, M.P. & Granier, A. 2002. Nutrient budgets for a rotation of Douglas-fir plantation in the Beaujolais (France) based on chronosequence study. *Forest Ecology and Management* 171, 3-16.
- Rastetter, E.B., Ågren, G.I. & Shaver, G.R. 1997. Responses of N-limited ecosystems to increased CO₂: A balanced-nutrition, coupled-element-cycles model. *Ecological Applications* 7, 444-460.
- Rastetter, E.B., McKane, R.B., Shaver, G.R. & Melillo, J.M., 1992. Changes in C storage by terrestrial ecosystems: How C-N interactions restrict responses to CO2 and temperature. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 64*, 327–344.
- Redfield, A.C. 1958. The biological control of chemical factors in the environment. *American Scientist 46*, 205-221.
- Reich, P.B., Grigal, D.F., Aber, J.D. & Gower, S.T., 1997. Nitrogen mineralization and productivity in 50 hardwood and conifer stands on diverse soil. *Ecology* 78, 335–347.
- Reimann, C., de Caritat, P., Niskavaara, H., Finne, T.E., Kashulina, G. & and Pavlov, V.A. 1998. Comparison of elemental contents in O- and C-horizon soils from the surroundings of Nikel, Kola Peninsula, using different grain size fractions and extractions. *Geoderma 84*, 65-87.
- Reimann, C., Koller, F., Frengstad, B., Kashulina, G., Niskavaara, H. & Englmaier, P. 2001. Comparison of the element composition in several plant species and their substrate from a 1 500 000 km² area in Northern Europe. *Science of the Total Environment 278*, 87-112.
- Robinson, A.P. & Ek, A.R. 2000. The consequences of hierarchy for modeling in forest ecosystems. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research 30*, 1837-1846.

- Rodin, L.E. & Bazilevich, N.I. 1967. Production and Mineral Cycling in Terrestrial Vegetation. Oliver & Boyd, Edinburgh.
- Salih, N., Ågren, G.I. & Hallbäcken, L. 2005. Modeling response of N addition on C and N allocation in Scandinavian Norway spruce stands. *Ecosystems* 8, 373-381.
- Saxe, H., Cannell, M.G.R., Johnsen, Ö., Ryan, M.G. & Vourlitis, G. 2001. Tree and forest functioning in response to global warming. *New Phytologist* 149, 369-400.
- Spiecker, H., Mielikäinen, K., Köhl, M. & Skovsgaard, J.P. (ed) 1996. Growth Trends in European Forests - Studies from 12 Countries. EFI Research Report 5. Springer, Berlin Heidelberg New York.
- Steffen, W., Tyson, P., Jäger, J., Matson, P., Moore, B., Oldfield, F., Richardson, K. & Wasson, R. 2001. Global change and the earth system: A planet under pressure. *IGBP Science* 4, 2-32.
- Sterner, R.W. & Elser J.J. 2002. Ecological Stoichiometry The Biology of Elements from Molecules to the Biosphere. Princeton University Press, Princeton.
- Sukačev, V.N. & Dylis, N.V. 1964. Fundamentals of Forest Biogeocoenology. Oliver & Boyd, Edinburgh.
- SVO Swedish Forest Agency. Homepage. [online](1997-02-01). Available from: <u>http://www.svo.se/episerver4/templates/SNormalPage.aspx?id=11303</u> (2008-10-01)
- Tamm, C.O., Aronsson, A. & Burgtorf, H. 1974a. The Optimum Nutrition Experiment Stråsan. A Brief Description of an Experiment in a Young Stand of Norway Spruce (Picea abies Karst.). Dept of Forest Ecology and Forest soils, Royal College of Forestry, Stockholm, Research Note 17.
- Tamm, C.O., Aronsson, A., Popovic, B. & Flower-Ellis, J. 1999. Optimum nutrition and nitrogen saturation in Scots pine stands. *Studia Forestalia Suecica 206*, 126 p.
- Tamm, C.O., Nilsson, Å. & Wiklander, G. 1974b. The Optimum Nutrition Experiment Lisselbo. A Brief Description of an Experiment in a Young Stand of Scots pine (Pinus silvestris L.). Dept of Forest Ecology and Forest soils, Royal College of Forestry, Stockholm, Research Note 18.
- Tamm, C.O. & Popovic, B. 1995. Long-term field experiments simulating increased deposition of sulfur and nitrogen to forest plots. *Ecological Bulletins* 44, 301-321.
- Verburg, P.S.J., Johnson, D.W. & Harrison, R. 2001. Long-term nutrient cycling patterns in Douglas-fir and Red alder stands: A simulation study. *Forest Ecology and Management* 145, 203–217.
- Wang, G.G. & Klinka, K. 1996. Use of synoptic variables in predicting white spruce site index. Forest Ecology and Management 80, 95-105.
- Wang, G.G. 1995. White spruce site index in relation to soil, understory vegetation, and foliar nutrients. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 25, 29–38.
- Wang, G.G., 1997. Soil nutrient regime classification for white spruce stands in the Subboreal Spruce Zone of British Columbia. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 27, 679–685.
- Watanabe, T., Broadley, M.R., Jansen, S., White, P.J., Takada, J., Satake, K., Takamatsu, T., Tuah, S.J. & Osaki, M. 2007. Evolutionary control of leaf element composition in plants. *New Phytologist* 174, 516 –523.
- Wilson, E.J. & Emmett, B.A. 1999. Factors influencing nitrogen saturation in forest ecosystems: Advances in our understanding since the mid 1980s. In: Langan, S.J. (ed) The
- 48

Impact of Nitrogen Depositions on Natural and Semi-natural Ecosystems. Kluver Academic, Dordrecht.

- Wood, T.E., Lawrence, D. & Clark, D.A. 2006. Determinants of leaf litter nutrient cycling in a tropical rain forest: Soil fertility versus topography. *Ecosystems 9*, 700-710.
- Ziska, L.B. & Bunce, J.A. 1997. The role of temperature in determining the stimulation of CO₂ assimilation at elevated carbon dioxide concentration in soybean seedlings. *Physiologia Plantarum 100*, 126-132.

Acknowledgements

This study lead by the Department of Ecology and Environmental Research, later just Department of Ecology, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden, could never have been accomplished without the help of many persons.

First of all, I wish to express my special thanks to my main supervisor, Göran Ågren. Göran, thank for employing me to different projects and thank you for help in understanding the place of such abstract methodology (mechanistic modelling) in our overall picture of the world by showing me the importance of "casualty" and "mechanism" in explanations. Perhaps, mechanistic modelling means now for me that I do not prefer a handful of "certainty" to a whole cartful of beautiful possibilities. Finally, thank you for having the patience of Job in reading the dozens of versions of my papers and provide me with evaluative comments.

A special thank to my second supervisor Riitta Hyvönen, who kindly advised me, especially regarding the nutrient issues of the thesis. Without her there would not be the Jädraås part in my thesis.

I am also grateful to Helene Lundkvist, who introduced me to department of Ecology and Environmental Research, for giving me the opportunity to work at this department, for enormous patience with me at that time when I could not any words in English and spoke Swedish badly.

I wish also to express sincere appreciation to Bengt Olsson for giving constructive comments.

Special thanks are to Tryggve Persson for his enjoyable discussions throughout the years, smiling, exactness, Jädraås travelling and a lot of things and long time.

I extend my sincere thanks to my friend Oleg Chertov for his help during the preparation of the first article and to my Russian colleagues Alex Komarov and Vladimir Usoltsev.

It is impossible to acknowledge adequately the assistance of all peoples at the Department of Ecology and Environmental Research and I am very grateful to all of them:

Big thanks to Lena Johansson, who was always there to assist in IT-related problems,

Tomas Grönqvist introduced me to the lab,

Ege Törndall helped me with soil sampling and Lisselbo project,

Magnus Knecht, thanks for your friendly company during seminars and helping with computer,

Folke Anderson gave me scientific advices and valuable books,

Barbro Gyllsten helped enormous with domestic topic,

Helene Arvidson, your room was close to mine and you always had answers to my question,

Lisette Lenoir, thank you for your straightforwardness,

Hans Persson, thanks for some irrational moments, which was really needed for me,

Oskar Franklin, thanks for your smile in the corridors,

So many other persons helped in the many phases of the work that I can only list these persons here: Niklas Lindberg, Sofia Nilsson, Kerstin Ahlström, Berit Solbreck, Martin Wetterstedt, Pei Wang, Linnea Berglund, Anna Malmström, Michael Freeman, Achim Grelle, Karna Hansson, Astrid Teylor, Cecilia Remén, Ann-Sofie Morén, Peter Eliasson, Karin Perhans ...+ all that have been forgotten.

I wish to express sincere appreciation to all colleagues at the new department of Ecology for their friendly company and support through the last years.

I also want to thank Sune Linder, who has made unpublished results available to me.

My big thanks to my friends: Gongalsky K., <u>Andrey Pokarzhevsky</u>, Filonova L., Rublenko L., Idris M., Dragnish R., Kozyreva I. and many others...

Finally, my big thanks to my husband Luis Mente, daughter Sandra and my parents; they helped me to miss the condition of thinking about different concepts by keeping me far away from them at home.